IN	THE	SUPREME	COURT	OF	FLORIDA SC	1 1		D
----	-----	---------	-------	----	---------------	-----	--	---

FEB 17 1986 CLERK, SUPREME COURT

TRAILER RANCH, INC., et al.,

Petitioners,

vs.

CASE NO. 68,290

CITY OF POMPANO BEACH, etc.,

Respondent.

PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JOE EASTHOPE 150 Southeast 12th Street Fort Lauderdale, FL 33316 (305)525-4885

AND

THOMAS M. ERVIN, JR. of the law firm of Ervin, Varn, Jacobs, Odom & Kitchen Post Office Drawer 1170 Tallahassee, FL 32302 (904)224-9135

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONERS TRAILER RANCH, INC., AND BOWLERO LANES OF POMPANO, INC.

# TOPICAL

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This case, which is now before the Court on a certified question of great public importance, was commenced by respondent, City of Pompano Beach, as the condemning authority in April, 1976. Under the applicable briefing schedule, the case will be a full decade in duration by the time of filing of reply brief in these proceedings.

The decision of the district court of appeal being reviewed is <u>City of Pompano Beach v. Abe, et al.</u>, 479 So.2d 863 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985), wherein final judgment for petitioners, Trailer Ranch, Inc., and Bowlero Lanes of Pompano, Inc., was reversed. The sole ground for reversal cited by the district court was that the trial court erred in excluding from evidence plans and specifications of the already-completed

project which were proffered by the respondent condemning authority (A 13).

Having reversed on this issue, the district court certified to this Court the question of whether a condemning authority is entitled as a matter of law to introduce plans and specifications in proceedings for condemnation of a permanent utility easement. Petitioners respectfully submit that the certified question must be answered in the negative; that the plans and specifications were properly excluded by the trial court; and that the decision of the district court should be reversed with instructions to reinstate the final judgment.

#### ISSUE PRESENTED

As the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, set forth only the exclusion from evidence of plans and specifications as the basis for reversal, and then certified a single question regarding that one issue, petitioners submit that the issue presented is as follows:

IS A CONDEMNING AUTHORITY WHICH SEEKS A PERMANENT UNDERGROUND UTILITY EASEMENT, TOGETHER WITH THE NECESSARY ABOVE-GROUND USES TO CONSTRUCT AND MAINTAIN SUCH UTILITIES, ENTITLED TO INTRODUCE INTO EVIDENCE THE PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS REFLECTING THE DETAILS OF THE UTILITY PROJECT BEFORE THE JURY DETERMINING THE DAMAGES TO WHICH THE PROPERTY OWNER IS ENTITLED?

As this issue was the sole basis of the district court for its reversal, and the subject of the certified question, petitioners will restrict this brief and argument to that issue.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

As noted above, the district court based its decision and reversal on the sole ground or holding that the trial court had erroneously excluded from evidence the condemnor's plans and specifications. The district court then certified to this Court the single question of whether such a condemnor is "entitled" to introduce such plans. Because the issues are so limited, this statement will be restricted to pertinent aspects of the case and facts.

In April, 1976, respondent, City of Pompano Beach, commenced these condemnation proceedings. On October 8, 1976, the circuit court entered an Order of Taking (R 322-326) (A 1-5) granting to the respondent City a perpetual utility easement under, across and over real property of petitioners. The Order of Taking granted to the City an easement described therein as follows, in pertinent part:

9. That Petitioner is entitled, prior to final judgment herein, upon payment into the Registry of the Court of the sum of Nineteen Thousand Seven Hundred Fifty (\$19,750.00) Dollars, to perpetual underground utility easements and temporary construction easements under, across and over the real property located in Broward County, Florida described hereinabove, for underground sanitary sewer lines with the right to construct, maintain, operate and repair facilities and appurtenances in, on or under said lands which may be required for the full enjoyment of the rights hereby acquired.

(A 4)

Deposit of the sum required was made by the respondent City (R 327) and the taking of the above-described easement was thereby effectuated.

Thereafter, in 1977, the respondent City installed within the easement an eight-inch (8") diameter underground sanitary sewer force main. Upon completion of construction, there were no above-ground facilities located within the above-described easement. Construction plans, later proffered and excluded, reflected construction with no surface facilities or appurtenances.

In subsequent proceedings, on June 24, 1981, the parties filed a Pretrial Stipulation (R 353-356) (A 7-10) setting forth the following issue of law for determination prior to trial:

Whether the taking of the underground utility easements in this proceeding must, as a matter of law, be considered equivalent to a taking of fee simple title for purposes of determining just compensation.

(A 8)

The parties thereafter filed memoranda of law respecting this issue, as well as opposing Motions in Limine directed to exclusion of the proposed testimony of the other's appraiser (R 358-359; R 360-361).

A pretrial conference was held on February 14, 1984 (R 367-402) following which the trial court, on March 7,

1984, entered its Order granting petitioner condemnees' Motion in Limine (R 365) and excluding the City appraisal testimony from trial. At further pretrial conference on June 1, 1984 (R 405-430) the court ruled that the City's plans for the project and related engineering testimony would be excluded.

The basis for the trial court's above orders was its holding that the easement taken by the City in 1976 was defined by the prior Order of Taking (A 1-5) and was tantamount to a taking of the fee.

At trial the City proffered, out of the presence of the jury, plans and specifications for the already constructed project (Petitioners' Exhibits 1 and 2) and testimony of its engineer regarding the plans (R 67-98). The City also proffered its Appraisal Report which, by Order granting motion in limine, had five months earlier been excluded (Petitioners' Exhibit No. 3). Consistent with the pretrial rulings, the proffered materials and testimony were excluded.

The foregoing having been excluded, the City offered no further witnesses at trial. During trial the jury was taken to, and afforded a view of, the easement and completed project. The only testimony presented to the jury at trial

was that of petitioner condemnees' expert appraisal witness, who testified to a total valuation of \$400,000 (R 135).

The jury returned a verdict of \$200,000, after which petitioner condemnees filed a Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, which was granted, thereby granting judgment in the amount of \$400,000 (R 464).

After subsequent hearing on attorneys' fees and costs (R 185-271), the trial court entered its Final Judgment awarding condemnees compensation in the amount of \$400,000, plus interest from the date of taking, for a total of \$676,344.97 (R 465-466) (A 11-12). Attorneys' fees and costs were also awarded to respondent condemnees (A 12).

The City instituted appeal to the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District of Florida. In <u>City of Pompano</u>

Beach v. Abe, 479 So.2d 863 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985), the appellate court reversed. In stating the basis for reversal, the decision of the district court was as follows:

We reverse and remand the final judgment entered in this condemnation proceeding on the authority of Central and Southern Florida Flood Control District v. Wye River Farms, Inc., 297 So.2d 323 (Fla. 4th DCA 1974), cert. denied, 310 So.2d 745 (Fla. 1975), which upheld the admissibility of a condemning authority's plans and specifications for the public works project requiring condemnation in order to determine the extent of taking and the damages caused thereby. In this case the condemnor sought to secure 'perpetual underground utility easements . . . under, across and over' a portion of appellees' property. The appellees successfully contended below that this taking

amounted to an acquisition of the complete legal interest in the property which would make the contents of the plans and specifications irrelevant to a determination of damages. Houston Texas Gas & Oil Corp. v. Hoeffner, 132 So.2d 38 (Fla. 2d DCA 1961), cert. denied, 136 So.2d 349 (Fla. 1961.

(A 13)

The district court also certified to this Court a question of great public importance. The decision of the district court as to certification was as follows:

Notwithstanding our reversal we believe that the issue raised is one of great public importance because of the substantial interests of the landowners and the governmental bodies involved. In this case, for instance, the underground easement was originally valued by the condemnor at \$19,000.00 while the total award eventually entered by the trial court amounted to \$676,344.97. In light of this substantial disparity and the unsettled posture of appellate law we certify the following question to the Florida Supreme Court for resolution, should the parties seek further review:

IS A CONDEMNING AUTHORITY WHICH SEEKS A PERMANENT UNDERGROUND UTILITY EASEMENT TOGETHER WITH THE NECESSARY ABOVE GROUND USES TO CONSTRUCT AND MAINTAIN SUCH UTILITIES, ENTITLED TO INTRODUCE INTO EVIDENCE THE PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS REFLECTING THE DETAILS OF THE UTILITY PROJECT BEFORE THE JURY DETERMINING THE DAMAGES TO WHICH THE PROPERTY OWNER IS ENTITLED? (A 13)

Petitioners, Trailer Ranch, Inc., and Bowlero Lanes of Pompano, Inc., filed their timely notice invoking the jurisdiction of this Court. By Order of January 21, 1986, this Court directed a briefing schedule, pursuant to which this brief is submitted.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, erred in reversing the final judgment because plans and specifications for this completed utility project were excluded from evidence.

In the instant case the easement taken by the City, as established by the Order of Taking, states that it is a perpetual underground utility easement, but further states that the easement being taken "under, across and over" the lands includes the right to construct, maintain, operate and repair facilities and appurtenances <u>in</u>, on or <u>under said lands</u>. The Order of Taking contains no provisions reserving any rights in the condemnee. The easement taken was clearly under, across and above the land, so as to be tantamount to taking of the fee.

Under these circumstances, where the easement taken was virtually unrestricted and the condemnee retained virtually no <u>rights</u> as to use, the trial court properly held that the easement was, for all practical purposes, tantamount to the taking of the fee. <u>Houston Texas Gas & Oil v. Hoeffner</u>, 132 So.2d 38 (Fla. 2d DCA 1961); <u>Smith v. Citv of Tallahassee</u>, 191 So.2d 446 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966).

In such a case the plans and specifications are in no way reflective of that being legally taken by the

condemnor. They would be actually misleading to the jury, for a picture of pipes underground in no way conveys a correct impression of the perpetual rights taken by the condemnor above the ground. The plans and specifications, if introduced, would in noway alter or limit the fact that the owner is stripped of virtually all practical aboveground right of use of the lands being taken. If respondent desired to restrict the extent of its taking, and enjoy an evidentiary entitlement as to such restrictions, it should have done so by its petition and Order of Taking. Peebles v. Canal Authority, 254 So.2d 232 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971). It did not!

The district court erred in its citation and reliance upon Central and Southern Florida Flood Control District v. Wye River Farms, Inc., 297 So.2d 323 (Fla. 4th DCA 1974), as authority for the proposition that plans and specifications must be admitted when offered. In that case the disputed document was Resolution No. 1019, which committed the condemning authority to construct and provide three access bridges to minimize damages to the owner's remainder. The resolution did not purport to alter the affect of the legal interest being acquired.

In the instant case the proffered plans and specifications would have merely shown pipes underground with nothing on the surface. In fact, this physical state

of affairs was amply demonstrated to the jury by a view of the then-completed project. In this case, however, respondent has effectively and perpetually taken from petitioners the right to use of the surface of the easement. It is clear that the plans and specifications showing no permanent equipment on the surface are irrelevant as to what has been taken from petitioners.

Stated perhaps more clearly, if the plans and specifications were proffered as an attempt to somehow give back the full surface use to petitioners, then they were properly excluded as conflicting with the petition in condemnation and attempting to alter the legal interest being taken. If they were proffered as evidence of what has been legally taken, then they were properly excluded as nothing less than an affirmative effort to mislead the jury as to the scope of the taking.

Finally, in <u>Central and Southern Florida Flood</u>

<u>Control District v. Wye River Farms, Inc.</u>, <u>supra</u>, the trial court had dismissed the condemnation case with prejudice.

The district court reversed this dismissal, holding at page 329 that:

At this point, we observe that if the trial court found either Resolution 1019 or the testimony of the engineer concerning the construction of the bridges improper, the only correct ruling

would have been to strike the Resolution and testimony from the record but not to dismiss the cause with prejudice. (Emphasis supplied.)

That was precisely the "correct ruling" made by the trial court in the case <u>sub judice</u>.

This Court should answer the certified question in the negative. Trial courts should not be mandated by law to always admit over objection plans and specifications that are irrelevant to, or even misleading regarding, the nature of the legal interest being taken.

This Court should also quash the decision of the district court of appeal, with instructions that, upon remand, the final judgment be reinstated. It is time for this decade-old case to come to an end by just compensation to petitioners for that taken from them.

### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE PRESENTED

IS A CONDEMNING AUTHORITY WHICH SEEKS A PERMANENT UNDERGROUND UTILITY EASEMENT, TOGETHER WITH THE NECESSARY ABOVE-GROUND USES TO CONSTRUCT AND MAINTAIN SUCH UTILITIES, ENTITLED TO INTRODUCE INTO EVIDENCE THE PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS REFLECTING THE DETAILS OF THE UTILITY PROJECT BEFORE THE JURY DETERMINING THE DAMAGES TO WHICH THE PROPERTY OWNER IS ENTITLED?

It is respectfully submitted that the certified question must be answered in the negative. The district court erroneously held that respondent condemning authority had an absolute right to admission of its plans and specifications, citing as authority for that holding Central and Southern Florida Flood Control District v. Wye River Farms, Inc., 297 So.2d 323 (Fla. 4th DCA 1974), cert. den. 310 So.2d 745 (Fla. 1975).

In the trial court the plans and specifications had been excluded based upon the court's holding that the easement taken across petitioners' land was so unrestricted as to be tantamount to a taking of the fee. Houston Texas Gas & Oil Corp. v. Hoeffner, 132 So.2d 38 (Fla. 2d DCA 1961), cert. den. 136 So.2d 349 (Fla. 1961); see also Smith v. City of Tallahassee, 191 So.2d 446 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966). As the taking, as established by the respondent's petition and

Order of Taking, was so unrestricted as to constitute a taking of the fee, plans or specifications depicting only underground pipe were properly excluded.

Unfortunately, after years of litigation culminating in final judgment in favor of petitioners, the respondent on appeal prevailed upon the district court to reverse on the basis that it was error, as a matter of law, to exclude respondent's plans.

It is clear that the district court's decision is both a misreading and misapplication of Central and Southern Florida Flood Control District v. Wye River Farm, Inc., supra. As to the first point of distinction, in the Wye case the trial court had dismissed the condemnation action with prejudice. The district court reversed this action, but specifically noted at page 329 that if the trial court found the resolution or testimony improper, the "proper" ruling would be to strike them from the record. The decision clearly is not authority for the proposition that plans must be admitted, where it acknowledges that such plans could be found improper and stricken.

Other distinctions establish that the district court's reliance on the <u>Wye</u> case was misplaced. In the <u>Wye</u> case the resolution and testimony in question did not deal with the intended use by the condemnor of the land

being taken; they dealt, rather, with a commitment to construct three <u>separate</u> access bridges to minimize damage to the condemnee's remaining lands. Indeed, at page 328 the court in <u>Wye</u>, <u>supra</u>, expressly noted that the resolution and testimony did not purport to amend the petition in condemnation and did not alter the quality of title or legal interest of any parcel.

In contrast, the plans excluded in the case <u>sub</u> <u>judice</u> dealt directly with the land which had been taken. They clearly, and erroneously, would have suggested to the jury a prospective use more restrictive than the <u>legal interest</u> <u>taken in 1976</u> by respondent. They would have clearly represented an unauthorized attempt at "limiting the effect of the title or legal interest acquired as contained in the pleadings." Wye, <u>supra</u>, at p. 328.

Finally, and perhaps most importantly, there is a critical distinction between the nature of the material and information offered in <a href="Wye">Wye</a>, supra</a>, and that which was offered, and properly excluded, in the case <a href="sub\_judice">sub\_judice</a>. In <a href="Wye">Wye</a>, supra</a>, that which was offered was a formal <a href="Resolution">Resolution</a> of the condemning authority which specifically and formally committed the condemning authority to construct the three access bridges <a href="mailto:and-incommitted">and-incommitted</a> the condemning authority authorized and directed

the designated engineer to so commit the condemning authority in pending litigation.

By contrast and distinction, in the instant case the materials which were offered, and properly excluded, were merely plans and testimony of an engineer prepared after formal action of the condemning authority. That which had been taken was, however, defined by the Order of Taking of October 8, 1976 (A 1-5) and constituted the easement so unrestricted in nature as to be tantamount to a taking of the fee.

Based upon the foregoing, it is respectfully submitted that the district court's reliance on <u>Central and Southern</u> Florida Flood Control District v. Wye River Farms, Inc., 297 So.2d 323 (Fla. 4th DCA 1974), as authority for reversal was clearly error. That case neither compels, nor authorizes, the action of the district court.

In the instant case the determinative document as to the scope of the interest being taken by respondent condemnor was the Order of Taking entered on October 8, 1976 (A 1-5). That Order of Taking provided in pertinent part as follows:

CONSIDERED, ORDERED AND ADJUDGED by the Court as follows:

\* \* \*

9. That Petitioner is entitled, prior to final judgment herein, upon the payment into the Registry of the Court of the sum of Nineteen Thousand Seven Hundred Fifty (\$19,750.00) Dollars, to perpetual underground utility easements and temporary construction easements under, across and over the real property located in Broward County, Florida described hereinabove, for underground sanitary sewer lines with the right to construct, maintain, operate and repair facilities and appurtenances in, on or under said lands which may be required for the enjoyment of the rights hereby acquired. (Emphasis supplied.)

From the foregoing Order of Taking it is clear that the easement respondent condemnor chose to take was "under, across and over" petitioners' lands. It is equally clear that respondent took the perpetual right to construct, maintain, operate and repair facilities and appurtenances "in, on or under" said lands.

Further perusal of the Order of Taking demonstrates a total lack of any supplementary provisions restricting the taking by respondent condemnor (A 1-5). There is no provision declaring any continuing rights in petitioner condemnees, as was present in Jones v. City of Tallahassee, 304 So.2d 528 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974). There is no stated restriction on the nature or location of "appurtenances" which may be placed "in, on or under" the said lands.

The unrestricted easement in this case clearly falls within the ambit of <u>Houston Texas Gas & Oil Corp. v.</u>

<u>Hoeffner</u>, 132 So.2d 38 (Fla. 2d DCA 1961). In that case

the condemnor filed its petition to condemn a fifty-foot easement through the property owner's orange grove "for the construction, maintenance, and operation of natural gas transmission pipelines and works."

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