IN THE SUPRFME COURT OF FLORIDA

TRAILER RANCH, INC., et al.,

Petitioners,

VS.

CASE NO. 68,190

CITY OF POMPANO BEACH, etc.,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

DONALD C. ROBERGE Attorney for Respondent CITY OF POMPANO BEACH Post Office Box 2083 Pompano Beach, Florida 33061 (305) 786-4195

TOPICAL

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The exclusion by the trial court of the City's plans and specifications for its sewer project, the testimony of its engineer in explanation thereof and the testimony of its expert appraisal witness was clearly reversible error which the district court correctly reversed on the basis of that court's own clear precedent which is the leading case in Florida on the admissibility of project plans and specifications as a positive evidentiary statement by the condemnor as to the manner in which condemnee's property will be utilized, which manner may not damage condemnee's property according to the worst possible assumption or inflict the most serious damage the legal title acquired might imply.

The City has acquired underground easements for construction of a sanitary sewer line. However, since the underground sewer line must be constructed and, if necessary, repaired from above the ground, it was necessary to also acquire above-ground rights of access across and over the real property for purposes of construction and repair. Therefore the Order of Taking describes the easements as being not only "under" the real property, but also "across" and "over" it, and gives the City the right to construct, maintain, operate and repair its sewer facility in, on or under Petitioners' land.

However, an easement "across" and "over" Petitioners' land for the limited purpose of construction and repair of an underground sewer line does not mean, as contended by Petitioners, that the Petitioners have thereby been deprived of all rights to use of the surface of their land. Such easements by their very nature do not require the exclusive occupation by the condemnor of the surface of the land. Landowners retain their right to use the fee in any manner they choose so long as such use does not interfere with the condemnor's right to use of the land for construction and repair. In essence, the only limitation placed upon use by the landowner is that he cannot erect permanent structures on the surface of the easement. Petitioners here are currently using the surface of the City's easement for vehicular access to commercial businesses located elsewhere on their property, for a used-car display area, a fence and a driveway through a trailer park located on a portion of their property, essentially the same uses of their property as before the taking.

The position taken by Petitioners is based upon the erroneous premise that property owners from whom easements such as this are taken are barred (or potentially barred) from any use whatever of the surface of the easement unless the petition and/or the declaration of taking specifically reserve such use to the landowner. This proposition flies in the face of reality and is clearly not the law in Florida.

However, there is a Florida case, Houston Texas Gas & Oil Corporation v. Hoeffner, 132 So. 2d 38 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1961) which at first glance gives a certain surface plausibility to Petitioners' argument if looked at in a vacuum to the exclusion of all other Florida cases on the subject. In that case the condemnor acquired a 50 foot easement "for the construction, maintenance, and operation of natural gas transmission pipelines and works." The trial judge refused to admit proffered evidence regarding a permissive policy of the condemnor to permit fee owners to continue making various uses of their land after condemnation. The district court held that the condemnor was bound by its petition and that the taking of the easement described in the petition was tantamount to the taking of the full value of the fee.

However, there is a crucial distinction between the <u>Houston</u> case and the case <u>sub judice</u>. In <u>Houston</u> there is nothing to indicate that the condemnor attempted to introduce plans and specifications or testimony of an engineer as to what the condemnor intended to construct on the particular parcel which was the subject of the litigation. In the case <u>sub judice</u> the City has proffered its plans and specifications for the project and the testimony of its engineer in order to provide a positive declaration of the manner in which Petitioners property will be utilized, which use by the City will allow Petitioners unrestricted use of the surface of their property except that they may not construct a permanent structure thereon. Yet the trial court erroneously looked upon the <u>Houston</u> case as authority for exclusion from evidence of the plans and specifications of the City and the testimony of its engineer and expert appraisal witness.

This action of the trial court was clearly contrary to the controlling authority on the subject, the case of <u>Central & Southern Florida</u> <u>Flood Control District v. Wye River Farms, Inc.</u>, 297 So. 2d 323 (Fla. 4th DCA 1974), relied upon by the district court here in reversing and remanding. In that case the court, obviously disturbed by the unfairness to condemnors and the windfall profits to condemnees which would result from indiscriminate application of the <u>Houston</u> rationale in cases where the condemnor offers into evidence specific plans and specifications to show the manner in which the property taken will be utilized, held that plans and specifications for construction of a public project are admissible in evidence to provide "a positive declaration of the manner in which the property will be utilized, which manner may not damage the remaining property according to the worst possible assumption or inflict the most serious damage the legal title acquired might imply" 297 So. 2d 323, 327. The court disposed of the Houston argument by

restricting the application of <u>Houston</u> to situations 'Where there are no plans and specifications in evidence and there is nothing to show the manner of construction of the project." 297 So. 2d 323, 328.

Despite the ineffectual attempts of Petitioners to distinguish it, the Wye River Farms case is squarely on point, is the controlling authority and was properly relied upon by the district court in City of Pompano Beach Wye River Farms, there must be a new trial at which the City will have an absolute right to introduce its plans and specifications (assuming they are sufficiently specific and otherwise admissible) and the testimony of its engineer and expert appraisal witness to show that the manner in which the City will utilize Petitioners' property will not damage their property according to the worst possible assumption or inflict the more serious damage that the legal title acquired might imply. Only after hearing such testimony and reviewing such evidence can the jury possibly determine just compensation.

If this Court reverses the district court and the final judgment of the trial court is allowed to stand, the result will not be just compensation, but a windfall profit to Petitioners in the amount of hundreds of thousands of dollars.

The district court must be affirmed because a new trial at which the jury will be allowed to consider <u>all</u> of the evidence is the only way in which this case can proceed in accordance with the requirements of the Florida Constitution that eminent domain proceedings must provide just compensation to property owners, and no more.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE PRESENTED

IS A CONDEMNING AUTHORITY WHICH SEEKS A PERMANENT UNDERGROUND UTILITY EASEMENT TOGETHER WITH THE NECESSARY ABOVE-GROUND USES TO CONSTRUCT AND MAINTAIN SUCH UTILITIES, ENTITLED TO INTRODUCE INTO EVIDENCE THE PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS REFLECTING THE DETAILS OF THE UTILITY PROJECT BEFORE THE JURY DETERMINING THE DAMAGES TO WHICH THE PROPERTY OWNER IS ENTITLED?

The certified question must be answered in the affirmative.

One of the most common exercises of the power of eminent domain is the acquisition of underground easements required for the installation of utilities such as samitary sewer lines. Such easements by their very nature do not require the exclusive occupation by the condemnor of the surface of the land under which the underground utility line is installed. see Jones v. City of Tallahassee, 304 So. 2d 528 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974). However, since the underground pipeline must be constructed, and, if necessary, repaired, from above the ground, the condemnor must also acquire above-ground rights of access across and over the real property for purposes of construction and repair. The landowners retain the right to use the fee in any manner they choose so long as such use does not interfere with the condemnor's right to use of the surface of the land for construction and repair. Jones v. City of Tallahassee, supra. In essence this means that the landowners cannot erect permanent structures on the surface of the easement.

In the instant case the Respondent City, for the purpose of constructing an extension of its sanitary sewer facilities, acquired perpetual underground utility easements under, across and over numerous parcels of real property for underground sanitary sewer lines with the right to "construct, maintain, operate and repair facilities and appurtenances in, on or under said lands. . ." (R325) (PA-4) As to the land owned by Petitioners Trailer Ranch, et al, the plans and specifications for the project do not call for any above-ground appurtenances; the only facility installed in that particular portion of the project is an 8 inch underground sanitary sewer force main.

Since an easement is a sufficient interest or estate in the property to serve the purpose of installation of an underground sewer line, the City was limited to acquisition of an easement and would not have been allowed to acquire fee simple title, it being established in Florida that an acquiring authority will not be permitted to take a greater interest or estate than is necessary to serve the particular public use for which the property is being acquired. Canal Authority v. Miller, 243 So. 2d 131 (Fla. 1970).

However, Petitioners' appraiser disregarded the intended use and the plans and specifications for the project and valued the easement taking as the taking of a fee simple, based upon the premise that the City "could have the right at any time during the existence of the easement to totally utilize the land area to the exclusion of any use thereof by the underlying fee ownership interest." (RA-7) In calculating damages to the remainder (severance damages) Petitioners' appraiser used the "before and after" approach with the "after" valuation of the remainder based upon valuation of comparable parcels without any frontage or direct access to Federal Highway (US #1), based upon "the premise that the easement may be so employed as to cut off the balance of the parent tract from the frontage along U. S. Highway #1." (RA-7) In this connection it

is important that the Court note that it is clear from the Order of Taking that the City originally planned its easement to traverse Petitioners' property "in a more or less straight line from east to west, more or less bisecting" said property. (R323) (PA-2). Thus the easement as originally proposed would have traversed Petitioners' property from the northern-most point of Segment 'E' to the northern-most point of Segment 'A' as shown on the site sketch, (PA-6). According to the Order of Taking, Petitioners demonstrated to the satisfaction of the original trial judge that 'minimum inconvenience and minimum economic impact on their property" would result if the easements traversed the periphery of the property rather than bisecting it. (R323) (PA-2). Obviously recognizing that the above-ground rights acquired by the City would not allow Petitioners to erect any permanent structures on the surface of the easement, the court accommodated the Petitioners by rerouting the easement over a considerably longer distance around the periphery of their property (where zoning setback regulations would presumably prohibit a permanent structure whether the easement were there or not) and required that Segment "A" be placed adjacent to the right-of-way of Federal Highway (US #1). However, prior to trial before a different judge than the one who issued the Order of Taking, the Petitioners completely reversed their position as to 'minimum inconvenience and minimum economic impact on their property."

They now contend that the rerouting of the easements by the original trial judge has resulted in maximum economic impact on their property because, inter alia, the 'magic words' 'across and over' which appear in the easement description have transformed this easement taking into a fee simple taking, and Segment 'A' as rerouted by the original trial judge adjacent

to the US#1 right-of-way 'may be so employed as to cut off the balance of the parent tract from the frontage along US Highway #1 . . .'' (R463) (RA-7) Based upon this premise, Petitioners' appraiser calculated damages to the remainder (severance damages) at \$266,150.00, and valued the 15 foot easement strip at its full fee simple value of \$135,750.00, for a total valuation of \$401,900.00. (RA-8).

The trial court agreed with Petitioners' appraiser as to the magical effect of the words "across and over", ruled that the use of these words did transform these easements into the equivalent of a fee simple taking, refused to admit into evidence the plans and specifications which would have shown the jury what the project consisted of with respect to Petitioners' property, and excluded the testimony of the City's expert appraisal witness who would have testified to an easement valuation of 10 percent to 25 percent of unencumbered fee value for a total of \$25,832.00 (RA-5).

After hearing only one witness, Petitioners' appraiser, who testified to a valuation of \$400,000.00 based upon his "fee simple taking" theory, the jury returned a verdict of \$200,000.00, following which the trial court entered judgment notwithstanding the verdict in the amount of \$400,000.00.

In <u>City of Pompano Beach v. Abe</u>, 479 So. 2d 683 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985), the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, reversed and remanded on the authority of the leading case, <u>Central & Southern Florida Flood Control District v. Wye</u> River Farms, Inc., 297 So. 2d 323 (Fla. 4th DCA 1974).

Petitioners' Initial Brief on the Merits constitutes a valiant effort to distinguish Wye River Farms and convince this Court that the district court was mistaken in its reliance upon its own clear precedent. However, the position taken by Petitioners is completely without merit.

As they did in the trial court and the district court, Petitioners rely

primarily on <u>Houston Texas Gas & Oil Corporation v. Hoeffner</u>, 132 So. 2d 38 (Fla. 2d DCA 1961) to support their position. In that case the condemnor acquired a fifty foot easement "for the construction, maintenance, and operation of natural gas transmission pipelines and works." The trial judge refused to admit proffered evidence regarding a policy of the condemnor to permit fee owners to continue making various uses of their land after condemnation. It does not appear that the condemnor attempted to introduce plans and specifications or testimony of an engineer as to what the condemnor intended to construct on the particular parcel which was the subject of the litigation. The court held that the condemnor was bound by its petition and that the taking of the easement described in the petition was tantamount to the taking of the full value of the fee.

The district court in Central & Southern Florida Flood Control District v. Wye River Farms, Inc., supra, was obviously bothered by the inequitable windfall to condemnees which would result from blindly applying the rationale of the Houston Texas case in situations where the condemnor was prepared to offer evidence, not of a permissive policy intended to change or alter the legal effect of the estate acquired according to the pleadings, but in mitigation of damages to show that the condemnee's damages will not be as great as might conceivably be implied from the pleadings in the absence of such evidence. There, the Flood Control District actually acquired fee simple title to certain land for use as a water storage The District offered a resolution of its governing board committing it to construction and maintenance of bridges allowing access by the property owners to their remaining lands, thereby reducing the severance damages which the landowners would otherwise suffer as a result of the fee simple taking of a strip of their property. The resolution further authorized the District's engineer to make committments for the District on details of the matters set forth in the resolution and the engineer offered into evidence certain design memorandums

presumably referring to the bridges.

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